SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

HERMAN LEE WILLIAMS

VS.

i

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT NO. 2007-10-00270

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

OF COUNSEL: LEE D. THAMES, JR. VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS, P.A. Post Office Box 1237 1110 Jackson Street Vicksburg, Mississippi 39181-1237 Telephone: 601/638-8741 Facsimile: 601/638-8666

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTS

On July 10, 2005, Herman Williams went to the Navy Circle overlook in Vicksburg, Mississippi. (Tr. 270) Renae White accompanied Herman Williams. (Tr. 252) It was after midnight. (Tr. 187) The night was dark and the overlook has no lights. At least two other vehicles were present. (Tr. 179) Herman Williams, Renae White and Lance Rogers testified at trial that there were at least five or six other vehicles at the overlook. (Tr. 255, 261, 270-71)

Officer Brassard, a rooky recently graduated from the Academy less than two months previously, drove his patrol car to the overlook. (Tr. 187) Officer Brassard pulled behind Herman Williams' vehicle. Officer Brassard got out and questioned Herman Williams and asked for Herman Williams' drivers license. (Tr. 253) Herman Williams had a drivers permit, tags and insurance but did not have a drivers license. (Tr. 271) Herman Williams was asked to step out of the car. Herman Williams gave the police permission to search the car. (Tr. 271) The police searched the car and found no drugs. (Tr. 194, 272) The police advised that they were going to arrest Herman Williams.

Officer Brassard claims he saw Herman Williams throw something. However, no one else saw Herman Williams throw anything. Herman Williams denied having drugs or throwing drugs. (Tr. 272-3) Lance Rogers and Renae White, both present at the overlook, testified that Herman Williams did not throw any drugs on the ground. (Tr. 254, 257, 262) Nobody else could substantiate Officer Brassard's claim.

A bag of drugs was found at the overlook which is open to the public throughout the day. However, no fingerprints were found on the bag to connect the bag with Herman Williams. The police never gave Herman Williams a drug test. (Tr. 273) The area where Herman Williams allegedly threw the drugs was dark. (Tr. 188) The overlook does not have lights. (Tr. 188)

Officer Brassard arrested Herman Williams for possession of cocaine. Herman Williams was incarcerated on July 15, 2005. Herman Williams posted bond on March 1, 2006. (Tr. 9) On June 15, 2006, Herman Williams was arrested on different charges and bail was denied. (Cp. 13, Tr. 8) Herman Williams remained in jail until his trial began on September 5, 2006. So, approximately thirteen months, twenty-five days passed between the arrest and trial. Of that time, Herman Williams was incarcerated approximately ten months, ten days.

Interestingly, while in the custody of the State of Mississippi, Herman Williams was indicted by the Warren County Grand Jury on October 19, 2005. (Cp. 4) However, Herman Williams was not notified of the indictment until sometime in late June, 2006.

B. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Herman Williams was arrested on July 15, 2005. Herman Williams was indicted by the October 2005, grand jury on October 19, 2005. (Cp. 4) Even though Herman Williams had remained in the custody of the State of Mississippi, Herman Williams was not served a copy of the indictment until June 14, 2006. (Cp. 8) On July 21, 2006, Herman Williams was appointed counsel. (Cp. 10) Herman Williams was arraigned on July 27, 2006. (Tr. 1) On September 5, 2006, the trial court denied Herman Williams' Motion to Dismiss because his right to a speedy trial was violated. (Tr. 41) The trial court also overruled Herman Williams' objection to jurisdiction. (Tr. 40) Herman Williams had argued that the United States of America had exclusive jurisdiction of the property in question and that the State of Mississippi had not reserved concurrent jurisdiction.

Trial proceeded on September 5 and 6, 2006. (Tr. 64-314) The jury found Herman Williams guilty of possession of cocaine of approximately 10.7 grams.

On September 20, 2006, the trial court sentenced Herman Williams to 24 years, day for day, with no right to probation or parole. (Tr. 344) Herman Williams timely filed his Motion for New Trial and/or Motion for Reconsideration and/or Dismiss. (Cp. 111) On November 30, 2006, the trial court denied Herman Williams' motion. (Cp. 149) Aggrieved, Herman Williams filed his Notice of Appeal. (Cp. 151)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Herman Williams was denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial. Herman Williams was arrested for possession of a controlled substance on July 10, 2005. However, Herman Williams was not tried until September 5, 2006, approximately 13 months, 25 days after the arrest. Of that time, Herman Williams was incarcerated approximately 10 months, 10 days. Furthermore, Herman Williams lost contact of two of his witnesses because the State did not notify Herman Williams of his indictment until June 14, 2006, eleven months after the arrest. Herman Williams had been indicted as early as October 2005, and had been incarcerated and in the custody of the State but not notified of said indictment. Herman Williams was severely prejudiced and therefore denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial and therefore the charges should be dismissed.

The State of Mississippi did not have jurisdiction of the property where the alleged incident occurred. The property was conveyed to the United States of America in 1899 from private individuals. The State of Mississippi never reserved their right to concurrent jurisdiction nor did the United States of America grant the State concurrent jurisdiction. The laws argued by

the State of Mississippi as to jurisdiction were enacted in 1906 which would not affect the conveyance since the conveyance predated said law argued by the State. Therefore, the Court lacked jurisdiction to prosecute and convict Herman Williams.

Herman Williams was convicted for possession of cocaine of approximately 10.8 grams and sentenced a non-violent habitual offender receiving 24 years imprisonment day for day not eligible for probation or parole. Clearly the subject sentence is unconstitutional and cruel and inhuman punishment as well as disproportionate to similar sentences in Warren County. The gravity of the offense does not rise to the level of the harshness of the penalty. Furthermore, other drug possession and drug with intent to sell crimes received lighter sentences than Herman Williams' sentence of 24 years. Please note that this was not even a drug sale conviction but rather simple possession. Herman Williams had no guns. Clearly this sentence is a disproportionate to other sentences and to the crime. The only victim would be the taxpayers of Mississippi who will have to pay for Herman Williams to remain in jail for 24 years, day for day. Herman Williams is a victim on the failed war on drugs declared over twenty seven years ago.

The trial court improperly allowed testimony of prior convictions of Herman Williams. The trial court erroneously held that Herman Williams had opened the door on his prior convictions by stating that he had never "smoked drugs". However, Herman Williams did not testify that he never had done drugs which is a significant difference. Herman Williams was convicted of possession of cocaine, a drug that is normally snorted, not smoked. The prior felony convictions clearly are prejudicial and outweigh the probative value in this matter. Therefore, the Court should remand for a new trial.

Herman Williams was denied advice of counsel and due process. After Herman Williams

testified on direct, the State claimed that Herman Williams had opened the door as to the prior convictions. The Court granted the State's motion to ask Herman Williams questions about the convictions. At that time, counsel for Herman Williams asked if he could speak with his client for a few minutes based on the Court's improper ruling. The Court denied Herman Williams' counsel the right to advise Herman Williams of what the Court has ruled. As such, Herman Williams was denied his right to counsel and therefore a new trial is necessary.

The finding of the guilt was against the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and is contrary to the law and the weight of the evidence. The only direct evidence that Herman Williams was allegedly in possession of drugs was Officer Brassard. Officer Brassard said he saw Herman Williams throw something at the overlook. Officer Brassard conceded that it was dark that night. There were no fingerprints found on the drugs. Herman Williams, Renee Wright and Lash Rogers all testified they were present at the overlook at that time and that Herman Williams did not throw any drugs. Particularly in light of the fact that Herman Williams has been sentenced to 24 years in prison, day for day without eligibility or parole, the testimony of one officer against three other ones clearly goes against the weight of the credibility of the evidence and therefore the conviction should be dismissed or given a new trial.

The trial court erred by redacting the single juror language from D-2. The trial erred by redacting language from Jury Instruction D-3 regarding reasonable doubt. The trial court erred in striking the presumption of innocence in Jury Instruction D-4. Most importantly, the trial court erred by not requiring the element of "knowingly or intentionally" by granting Jury Instruction S-1 and refusing D-6. Therefore, the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

I. HERMAN WILLIAMS WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL

On July 10, 2005, Herman Williams was arrested for possession of a controlled substance which is the charge before the Court.

Herman Williams remained in the custody of the State until March 1, 2006, when he posted bond. While incarcerated from July 10, 2005 until March 1, 2006, Herman Williams was indicted for possession of a controlled substance which is the charge before the Court. However, the State never served Herman Williams with the indictment though under the State's custody.

On June 15, 2006, while out on bond, Herman Williams was arrested on new charges. The State filed a Motion to Hold Defendant Without Bond. The trial Court later upheld denial of bond. Herman Williams was incarcerated from June 15, 2006, until the trial on September 5, 2006. Herman Williams was arraigned on July 27, 2006, more than one year after his arrest.

The time of the arrest until trial on September 5, 2006, is approximately 13 months, 25 days. Herman Williams was incarcerated approximately 10 months, 10 days of the 13 month, 25 day period. Herman Williams was indicted by the Grand Jury on October 19, 2005. Herman Williams was tried more than 10 months, 17 days after he was indicted.

Herman Williams first became aware of the indictment on June 14, 2006. At arraignment, Herman Williams objected on the record noting he had already been denied a right to speedy trial.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution states in part, "In all criminal prosecutions, the acused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial...." The Mississippi Constitution, Article 3, §26, also affords the right to a speedy trial.

The date of the Defendant's arrest is the date the right to a speedy trial attaches. <u>Thorson</u> v. State, 653 So. 2d 876, 889 (Miss 1994); Johnson v. State, 666 So. 2d 784, 792 (Miss 1995).

In determining whether a defendant's right to a speedy trial is violated, the Court must weigh the four factors set out in <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514 (1972). The factors are: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) whether the defendant has asserted his right to a speedy trial; and (4) whether the defendant has been prejudiced by the delay. No one of these factors is, in itself, dispositive. Rather, they must be considered together, in light of all the circumstances. <u>Barker</u>, 407 U.S. at 533, 92 S.Ct. At 2193. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 550 So. 2d 406, 408 (Miss 1989). The Mississippi Supreme adopted the <u>Barker</u> test in <u>Wells v. State</u>, 288 So. 2d 860 (Miss 1974).

1. Length of Delay

The date of the defendant's arrest is the date the right to a speedy trial attaches. <u>Thorson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 876, 889; <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 666 So. 2d 784, 792 (Miss 1995). The Mississippi Supreme Court has held "that any delay of eight (8) months or longer is presumptively prejudicial." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 550 So. 2d at 408. Herman Williams was arrested on July 10, 2005, and his trial began on September 6, 2006, approximately thirteen (13) months, twenty-five (25) days later. This factor weighs heavily against the State.

2. Reason for the Delay

The record is devoid of any legitimate reason for the delay. The State never argued the case was delayed because of an overworked docket or unavailability of the prosecutor or the count. The case was not delayed because of police investigation. During most of the delay, Herman Williams was actually in the custody of the State and therefore available for prosecution. Herman Williams never asked for a continuance. Therefore, the factor weighs heavily against the

State.

The trial Court improperly found that the delay was caused by Herman Williams by virtue of being in the custody of the State on a different charge. The trial court did not count the time Herman Williams was incarcerated with the State on other charges. The trial court refused to count some of the time against the State, "because defendant was incarcerated in the Department of Corrections on another charge." (Tr. 57) Furthermore, the trial court held that the fact Herman Williams was incarcerated on other charges "weighs against him and not against the State of Mississippi on the computation of time." (Tr. 368)

However, the trial court's holding is contrary to the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in <u>Fisher v. State</u>, 532 So. 2d 992 (Miss 1988). In <u>Fisher</u>, the defendant was serving time on another conviction. The Mississippi Supreme Court held, "The mere fact that the defendant is in custody for another crime is generally not a sufficient reason for delaying a trial. <u>E.g. Frankel v.</u> <u>Woodrough</u>, 7 F. 2d 796, 799 (8th Cir. 1925); <u>U.S. v. Alagia</u>, 17 FRD 15, 17 (D. Dal. 1955); <u>Beavers v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 788, 790; <u>Burgess v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 432, 433-34 (Miss 1985)." Fisher, 532 So. 2d at 995.

In <u>Beavers v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 788, 790 (Miss 1986), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that revocation of parole leading to incarceration is not a legitimate reason for delay. Just like the case *sub judice*, Beaver's parole was revoked after being arrested. <u>Beaver</u>, 498 So. 29 at 790. The Mississippi Supreme Court held, "Incarceration via parole revocation, however, is not a legitimate reason for the prosecutor's failure to bring an accusal to trial. <u>Burgers v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d at 433-34; <u>Bailey v. State</u>, 463 So. 2d 1059 (Miss 1985)." <u>Beaver</u>, at 790-91. The Mississippi Supreme Court held:

Here the risk of non-persuasion rests with the prosecution. Because there is nothing in the record attributable to Beavers (except the 38 day delay due to the motion for continuance) or to any other source not chargeable to the prosecution, explaining why Beavers could not have been brought to trial substantially earlier, we consider this a factor weighing in Beavers' favor.

Beavers, at 791.

The State has the burden of persuasion. The State was silent on this factor other than the fact Herman Williams was incarcerated with MDOC. However, Herman William's incarceration on other charges are not a legitimate cause for delay. Therefore, this factor weighs heavily against the State.

3. Defendant's assertion of right to a speedy trial.

It is not the duty of the accused to bring himself to trial. <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 678 So. 2d 683, 687 (Miss 1996); <u>McGhee v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 799, 804 (Miss 1995); <u>Kinzey v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 814, 823 (Miss 1986). The State bears the burden of bringing a defendant to trial in a speedy and timely manner. <u>Simmons</u>, 678 So. 2d at 687; <u>McGhee</u>, 657 So. 2d at 804. "As has been repeated throughout this opinion, a defendant may have some responsibility to assert his speedy trial claim, but the primary burden os on the courts and the prosecutors to assure that cases are brought to trial." <u>Flores v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1314, 1325 (Miss. 1990) (*citing* <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 554 So. 2d 313, 317 (Miss 1989)).

In the case *sub judice*, Herman Williams asserted his right to a speedy trial. (Tr. 2). He was arraigned over a year after his arrest.

This factor weighs heavily against the State.

4. Whether the defendant has been prejudiced

The current trend in denying a defendant is right to a speedy trial usually hinges on the defendant's failure to prove he was prejudiced. However, Herman Williams was prejudiced in at

least two reasons. First, he was imprisoned over ten months of the thirteen month delay. Therefore, prejudice is presumed because the defendant is incarcerated. Secondly, Herman Williams lost contact with two of his witnesses. Because the two witnesses were unable to testify, Herman Williams was prejudiced.

"When the delay has been presumptively prejudicial, the burden falls upon the prosecutors." <u>State v. Ferguson</u>, 576 So. 2d 1252, 1255 (Miss 1991). An affirmative showing of prejudice by the defendant is not necessary to prove denial of the constitutional right to a speedy trial. <u>Moore v. Arizona</u>, 414 U.S. 25, 26 (1973); <u>Flores v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1314, 1323 (Miss 1990); <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 554 So. 2d 313, 318 (Miss 1989) Furthermore, "this Court has stated that the State actually has to show lack of prejudice in order to prevail in this factor." <u>Jasso v. State</u>, 655 So. 2d 30, 35 (Miss 1995) (citations omitted).

The United States Supreme Court has indentified three interests speedy trial is designed to protect: (i) to prevent oppressive pretrial incarceration; (ii) to minimize anxiety and concerns of the accused; and (iii) to limit the possibility that the defense will be impaired. <u>Barker v.</u> <u>Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514, 532 (1972). Of the three, "the most serious is the last, because the inability of a defendant adequately to prepare his case skews the fairness of the entire system." <u>Barker</u>, 407 U.S. at 532.

Herman Williams was incarcerated over ten months of the thirteen month period between the arrest and trial. Part of Herman Williams' defense required the testimony of Johnathon White and Gregory Holmes, two witnesses present at the overlook. What is interesting and what hampers Herman Williams' ability to coommunicate with these witnesses was the fact that the indictment was not served on Herman Williams for more than one year after the arrest. Based on such a long delay, Herman Williams had just assumed simply that the case had been dismissed.

Furthermore, one of his witnesses, Johnathon White, joined the armed services and therefore was unable to come to trial. The process server John Tompkins, was unable to find the two witnesses, Johnathon White and Gregory Holmes, as evidenced as Defendant Exhibit 3 in the Court record. (Cp. 37-42) Mr. Williams's ability to monitor and keep up with these witnesses was greatly hampered by his incarceration.

Thus, Herman Williams is able to show prejudice based on the fact that he was incarcerated for most of the time between the arrest and trial. Furthermore, two of his key witnesses were not available for trial. The case against Herman Williams was what is called a dope throwing case. The only evidence against Herman Williams was the police officer who testified that he saw Herman Williams threw dope. However, there were questions as to the officer's testimony because there was no lighting, the officer did not see exactly where the drugs were thrown and landed, and the scene where the drugs allegedly laid were not secure for over fifteen, twenty minutes. The crime scene was an overlook where at the time of the incident the police officer testified there was at least one other vehicle while Herman Williams testified there were at least five or six other vehicles. These two witnesses would have testified at trial that they were there and that they did not see Herman Williams throw any drugs. Therefore, Herman Williams' defense was greatly prejudiced and this factor weighs heavily against the State.

All four factors weigh heavily against the State. Therefore, Herman Williams' right to a speedy trial was denied. The trial court improperly denied Herman William's motion to dismiss because his right to a speedy trial was violated. This Court should over-rule the trial court and hold that Herman William's right to a speedy trial was violated, and dismiss the indictment and conviction.

i.

II. THE STATE COURT DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION

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