**COPY**

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**HERMAN LEE WILLIAMS**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**FILED**

**NO. 2007-KA-0270**

**JAN 22 2008**

**OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPELLEE**

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
POST OFFICE BOX 220  
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220  
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

##

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

The Defendant also claims that he was prejudiced because he "lost contact with two of his witnesses." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). He further claims that these two witnesses "would have testified at trial that they were there and that they did not see Herman Williams throw any drugs." (Appellant's Brief p. 11). However, as this Court noted in *Woodson v. State*, "[t]he evidence about which [the defendant] complains he was unable to present was cumulative to the evidence which he did present." 845 So.2d 740 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). The Defendant, Renee White, the lady with him in the vehicle at the time police arrived, and Lash Rogers, another man at the Overlook on the night in question all testified that Williams did not throw any drugs. Thus, the testimony of the two missing witnesses would be merely cumulative of the testimony of the Defendant's other witnesses.

The Defendant also claims that his "ability to monitor and keep up with these witnesses was greatly hampered by his incarceration." (Appellant's Brief p. 11). However, as noted above the vast majority of his incarceration was due to other charges and therefore, cannot be counted against the State. Accordingly, the Defendant was not prejudiced by the delay. As such, this issue is without merit.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT HAD JURISDICTION.**

The Defendant claims that the “trial court lacked territorial jurisdiction to prosecute the charge against Herman Williams,” noting that “the United States did not convey concurrent jurisdiction to Mississippi” and “Mississippi never retained concurrent jurisdiction.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 12). However, the United States Supreme Court has held that:

It is not unusual for the United States to own within a state lands which are set apart and used for public purposes. Such ownership and use without more do not withdraw the lands for the jurisdiction of the state. On the contrary, the lands remain a part of her territory and within the operation of her laws, save the latter cannot affect the title of the United States or embarrass it in using the lands or interfere with its right of disposal.

*Surplus Trading Co. v. Cook*, 281 U.S. 647, 650, 50 S.Ct. 455, 456, 74 L.Ed 1091 (1930) (*emphasis added*). Furthermore, as set forth in *California Coastal Com'n v. Granite Rock Co.*, the United States Supreme Court stated that it is “clear that ‘the State is free to enforce its criminal and civil laws’ on federal land so long as those laws do not conflict with federal law.” 480 U.S. 572, 580, 107 S.Ct. 1419, 1425, 94 L.Ed.2d 577 (1987) (quoting *Kleppe v. New Mexico*, 426 U.S. 529, 539, 96 S.Ct. 2285, 2293, 49 L.Ed.2d 34 (1976)). Accordingly, the State of Mississippi had jurisdiction over the Defendant’s case and the Defendant’s second issue is without merit.

## **III. THE DEFENDANT’S SENTENCE WAS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL OR DISPROPORTIONATE.**

“Sentencing is within the complete discretion of the trial court and not subject to appellate review if it is within the limits prescribed by statute.” *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1097 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521, 537 (Miss.1996)). Further, it has been held that “as general rule, a sentence will not disturbed on appeal so long as it does not exceed the maximum term allowed by statute.” *Stromas v. State*, 618 So.2d 116, 122 -124 (Miss.1993) (*citations omitted*). Moreover, “[d]eclaring a sentence violative of the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution

carries a heavy burden and only in rare cases should this Court make such a finding.” *Id.* at 123. (*Emphasis added*).

The Defendant argues that his sentence is “unconstitutional and disproportionate.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 15). However, the Defendant’s sentence is within the statutory guidelines. He was sentenced according to Mississippi Code Annotated §99-19-81 which states as follows:

Every person convicted in this state of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony or federal crime upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere, shall be sentenced to the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed for such felony, and such sentence shall not be reduced to suspended nor shall such person be eligible for parole or probation.

(*Emphasis added*). The Defendant was convicted under Mississippi Code Annotated §41-29-139(c) which provides that the maximum term of imprisonment for his felony is twenty-four years. The Defendant was sentenced to serve twenty-four years without the possibility of parole. As §99-19-81 requires that the Defendant receive the maximum term of imprisonment without parole or probation, the Defendant was properly sentenced thereunder.

The Defendant, relying on *Clowers v. State*, 522 So.2d 762 (Miss. 1988), also asserts that his sentence was disproportionate to his crime. (Appellant’s Brief p. 15). This Court has previously held that “the holding in *Clowers v. State*, is not the rule, but the exception,” noting that “the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Clowers* clearly stated that it was establishing no litmus test for proportionality and noted that ‘outside the context of capital punishment, successful challenges to the proportionality of a particular sentence will be exceedingly rare.’” *Bell v. State*, 769 So.2d 247, 249 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Clowers*, 522 So.2d at 765). Moreover, this Court in *Everett v. State*, held that “the ruling in *Clowers* is limited to its ‘own distinctive facts and procedural posture.’” 835 So.2d 118, 124 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Barnwell v. State*, 567 So.2d 215, 221

(Miss. 1990)). Additionally, the Defendant's sentence was not grossly disproportionate to his crime. *See Tate v. State*, 912 So.2d 919, 933 (Miss. 2005) (court upheld a sixty-year sentence without the possibility of parole for a drug offense when none of his prior convictions involved crimes of violence); *Tate v. State*, 946 So.2d 376, 387 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (court upheld a sixty-year sentence for possession of marijuana); *Oby v. State*, 827 So.2d 731, 734 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (court upheld a life sentence without the possibility of parole for possession of .55 grams of cocaine); and *Wall v. State*, 718 So.2d 1107, 1114-15 (Miss. 1998) (court upheld a life sentence without the possibility of parole for possession of a controlled substance conviction).

The Defendant further argues in his brief that "the war on drugs is all but lost" and that "as a society, we need to begin trying to treat this illness rather than locking people up, ruining their lives, making it where they will remain in criminal activities, and be a liability on tax payer's dollars by being locked in jails." (Appellant's Brief p. 16). However, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that:

Drug offenses are very serious, and the public has expressed grave concern with the drug problem. The legislature has responded in kind with stiff penalties for drug offenders. It is the legislature's prerogative, and not this Court's, to set the length of sentences. Because this sentence was within the statutory guidelines, and because this State's legislature, as a matter of public policy, has called for stiff penalties for drug offender, *Solem v. Helm* is not implicated in this case.

*Stromas v. State*, 618 So.2d 116, 122 -124 (Miss.1993) (*Emphasis added*). Accordingly, as the Defendant's sentence was within the statutory guidelines and was not grossly disproportionate to the crime charged, this issue is without merit.

**IV. THE DEFENDANT OPENED THE DOOR REGARDING HIS PRIOR CONVICTIONS AND THE STATE WAS PROPERLY ALLOWED TO QUESTION HIM REGARDING SAID CONVICTIONS.**

The Defendant also argues that the trial court “improperly found that Herman Williams had opened the door on his prior conviction.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 19). “The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and absent abuse of that discretion, the trial court’s decision on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal.” *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417(Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *McCoy v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 30 (Miss. Ct. App.2002)). “When the trial court stays within the parameters of the Rules of Evidence, the decision to exclude or admit evidence will be afforded a high degree of deference.” *Id.*

Mississippi law is clear that “[w]here an accused, on direct examination, seeks to exculpate himself, such testimony is subject to normal impeachment via cross-examination, and this is so though it would bring out that the accused may have committed another crime.” *Johnson v. State*, 666 So.2d 499, 503 (Miss. 1995)(quoting *Stewart v. State*, 596 So.2d 851, 853 (Miss. 1992)). Further, “[n]ormal impeachment applies when the defendant, on direct examination, makes blanket statements which open the door for impeachment.” *Id.* (citing *Quinn v. State*, 479 So.2d 706, 708-09 (Miss. 1985) and *Pierce v. State*, 401 So.2d 730 (Miss. 1981)). In the case at hand, the following exchange took place during the Defendant’s direct examination:

Q: All right. [Officer Brassard] says you threw - - dug in your pockets and threw drugs out.  
A: No, sir, I didn’t. I’ve been working on a job for 15 years. I don’t smoke drugs.

(Transcript p. 272). At the end of the Defendant’s direct examination, the State moved the trial court to allow it to question the Defendant regarding his prior conviction for possession of cocaine since the Defendant opened the door. The trial court found that the Defendant opened the door and

allowed the State to cross-examine the Defendant regarding his prior conviction. As set forth above, the case at hand is a classic example of when the State is allowed to question the Defendant regarding his prior convictions in that he made a blanket statement that he did not use drugs in order to exculpate himself and the State then questioned him about his prior conviction for possession of drugs.

The Defendant attempts to argue that his statement that he does not smoke drugs does not necessarily mean that he was saying that he did not use drugs. (Appellant's Brief p. 19 - 20). He further asserts that cocaine is snorted and crack is smoked and that therefore, the Defendant's statement "could very well be exactly true." (Appellant's Brief p. 19 - 20). However, as noted by the trial judge, crack cocaine is smoked and that is exactly what the Defendant was convicted of possessing. (Transcript p. 276 and 181). As the trial judge properly held that the Defendant opened the door to cross-examination regarding his prior convictions, this issue is without merit.

## **V. THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT DENIED THE ADVICE OF COUNSEL OR DUE PROCESS.**

The Defendant additionally argues that he "was denied advice of counsel and due process" in that he "was denied access to his attorney to advise him what the court had ruled, the ramifications and preparation of questions which Herman Williams believed he was not going to be questioned about." (Appellant's Brief p. 20). The Defendant, however, admits that he was "unable to find a criminal case on point where a court has ruled that Defendant had a right to confer with counsel while on cross examination on an issue that was allegedly waived." (Appellant's Brief p. 21). However, the Mississippi Supreme Court's has held that "[a] defendant and his attorney do not have a right to consult indiscriminately without leave of the court as one must adhere to orderly courtroom decorum and procedure." *Simmons v. State*, 805 So.2d 452, 486 (Miss. 2001) (citing *Pendergraft*

*v. State*, 191 So.2d 830, 839 n. 1 (Miss.1966)). Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that:

...when a defendant becomes a witness, he has no constitutional right to consult with his lawyer while he is testifying. He has an absolute right to such consultation before he begins to testify, but neither he nor his lawyer has a right to have the testimony interrupted in order to give him the benefit of counsel's advice. . . . Accordingly, it is entirely appropriate for a trial judge to decide, after listening to the direct examination of any witness, whether the defendant or a nondefendant, that cross-examination is more likely to elicit truthful responses if it goes forward without allowing the witness an opportunity to consult with third parties, including his or her lawyer.

*Puckett v. State*, 879 So.2d 920, 956 (Miss. 2004) (quoting *Perry v. Leeke*, 488 U.S. 272, 280-82, 109 S.Ct. 594, 102 L.Ed.2d 624 (1989)) (*emphasis added*). As such, this issue is also without merit.

## **VI. THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.**

The Defendant's sixth issue is that "the finding of guilt was against the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and/or is contrary to the law or the weight of the evidence." (Appellant's Brief p. 22). As part of his argument in this regard, the Defendant asserts that "the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Herman Williams was guilty of the crime of possession of cocaine" and that "the only direct evidence against Herman Williams was Officer Brassard." (Appellant's Brief p. 22). The appellate standard of review for claims that a conviction is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is as follows:

[This court] must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. A new trial will not be ordered unless the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an "unconscionable injustice."

*Pierce v. State*, 860 So.2d 855 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Smith v. State*, 802 So.2d 82, 85-86 (Miss. 2001)). On review, the Court must accept as true all evidence favorable to the State.

*McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss.1993).

In the case at hand, the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant possessed more than 10 grams but less than 30 grams of cocaine. The following facts were established in this regard:

- a. Officer Brassard of the Vicksburg Police Department witnessed the Defendant pull a cellophane bag from his pocket and throw it on the ground before running on foot from the officer. (Transcript p. 181).
- b. After the officers caught the Defendant, they found, photographed, and collected the cellophane bag the Defendant threw to the ground. (Transcript p. 181 - 182).
- c. Adrian Hall of the Mississippi Crime Lab confirmed that the substance in the cellophane bag was cocaine and that it weighed 10.7 grams. (Transcript p. 224).

However, the Defendant claims that the testimony of Officer Brassard should not be believed over the testimony of the Defendant and his passenger on the night in question, both of whom testified that the Defendant did not have cocaine and did not throw down any drugs from his pocket. (Appellant's Brief p. 23). This Court has held that “[i]t is the responsibility of the jury to resolve conflicts in testimony. ‘They may believe or disbelieve, accept or reject the utterances of any witness.’” *Long v. State*, 934 So.2d 313, 317 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (quoting *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.1983)). The jury obviously believed the testimony of Officer Brassard and not the testimony of the Defendant and his passenger. As “the jury is the sole judge of the weight and credibility of the witnesses” and as the State proved that the Defendant possessed more than 10 grams but less than 30 grams of cocaine, the Defendant’s sixth issue is also without merit. *Thomas v. State*, 754 So.2d 579, 582 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Miller v. State*, 634 So.2d 127, 129 (Miss.1994)).

## **VII. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN RULING ON THE PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS.**

The Defendant's issues VII - X are with regard to jury instructions. For simplification purposes, the State has combined these issues. Jury instructions are within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Shumpert v. State*, 935 So.2d 962 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Goodin v. State*, 787 So.2d 639, 657 (Miss. 2001)). “In determining whether error lies in the granting or refusal of various instructions, the instructions actually given must be read as a whole. When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found.” *Berry v. State*, 859 So.2d 399, 404 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Johnson v. State*, 823 So.2d 582, 584 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)) (*emphasis added*).

### **A      Jury Instruction D-2**

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